
   

 
 

 

Nottingham City Council 

Corporate Parenting Board 

 
Date: Monday, 20 March 2023 
 
Time:  2.00 pm 
 
Place: Ground Floor Committee Room - Loxley House, Station Street, NG2 3NG 
 
Councillors are requested to attend the above meeting to transact the following 
business 

 
Director for Legal and Governance 
 
Governance Officer: Phil Wye     Direct Dial: 0115 876 4637 

   
1  Apologies for absence  

 
 

2  Declarations of Interests  
 

 

3  Minutes  
Last meeting held on 16 January 2023 (for confirmation) 
 

3 - 48 

4  Children in Care Social Care complaints  
Report of Corporate Director for People 
 

49 - 56 

5  Quarter 3 2022-23 (Oct-Dec) performance  
Report of Corporate Director for People 
 

57 - 58 

6  Children in Care Council update  
Verbal update by Research, Engagement and Consultation Manager 
 

 

 
Note:  Following the close of the public meeting, members are requested to remain 

for an informal workshop in respect of ‘Sails of Success’ (feedback from the 
February 2023 CiC Council half-term Have Your Say day) 

 

If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please contact 
the Governance Officer shown above, if possible before the day of the meeting  
 

Citizens attending meetings are asked to arrive at least 15 minutes before the start 
 
Citizens are advised that this meeting may be recorded by members of the public. Any 
recording or reporting on this meeting should take place in accordance with the Council’s 
policy on recording and reporting on public meetings, which is available at 
www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk. Individuals intending to record the meeting are asked to notify 
the Governance Officer shown above in advance.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Nottingham City Council  
 
Corporate Parenting Board 
 
Minutes of the meeting held at Loxley House, Nottingham on 16 January 2023 
from 2.00 pm - 3.21 pm 
 
Membership  
Present Absent 
Councillor Cheryl Barnard (Chair) 
Councillor Merlita Bryan 
Councillor Eunice Campbell-Clark 
Councillor Jay Hayes 
Councillor Phil Jackson 
Councillor Georgia Power 
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos 
Councillor Andrew Rule 
 

Councillor Maria Joannou 
Councillor Salma Mumtaz 
 

 
Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:  
 
Ailsa Barr - Director of Children’s Integrated Services 
Mary-Anne Cosgrove - Head of Children in Care, Care Leavers and 

Children’s Regulated Services 
Colette Elliott-Cooper - Interim Service Manager, Children in Care and Care 

Leavers 
Lee Kimberley - Head of Nottingham Catering 
Nick Lee - Director of Education Services 
John Matravers - Service Manager, Safeguarding Partnerships 
Jon Rea - Engagement and Participation Lead Officer 
Jane Richardson - Barnardos 
Audrey Taylor - Service Manager, Fostering and Adoption 
Catherine Underwood - Corporate Director for People 
Phil Wye - Governance Officer 
 
29  Apologies for absence 

 
Councillor Maria Joannou - unwell 
 
Jasmin Howell 
Alison Platkiw 
Patrick Skeete 
 
30  Declarations of Interests 

 
In the interests of transparency Councillor Georgia Power stated that she works for 
the Children’s Society 
 
31  Minutes 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.01.23 

2 

The Board agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 21 November 2022 as a 
correct record and they were signed by the Chair. 
 
32  Complaints Service Update 

 
This item was deferred to the next meeting. 
 
33  Independent Review Service - Annual Report 

 
John Matravers, Service Manager Safeguarding Partnerships, introduced the report 
and delivered a presentation to the Board, highlighting the following: 
 
(a) the role of the Independent Reviewing officer (IRO) is to monitor the performance 

of the Local Authority and their function in relation to the children's cases, 
participate in any review of a child's case, and ensure that any ascertained wishes 
and feelings of the child are given due consideration by the appropriate authority; 
 

(b) the Children in Care population for 2020-21 within Nottingham City Council 
increased by 5.8% from the previous year. The East Midlands has also seen an 
increase in this population ranging from 4% -10%; 
 

(c) caseloads are within the upper limit specified in the IRO handbook, which denotes 
a caseload of 50-70 per IRO as being manageable. At present IRO’s hold an 
average caseload of 65. This shows progress over the previous years; 
 

(d) in Nottingham 72% of children in care have remained in the same placement for 
at least 2 years or more. Reviews carried out within timescales were at 92%, 
which is a slight decline against the previous year; 
 

(e) children’s participation in their own review was at 95%, which is a slight 
improvement against the previous year. This is a strong performance given the 
challenges presented by the pandemic over the last two years, but could still be 
improved further; 
 

(f) the Ofsted inspection of Nottingham City local authority children’s services 
highlighted that IROs do not consistently monitor children’s circumstances in 
between reviews. More mid-way reviews and checks need to take place, and this 
should be easier now that caseloads are reducing; 
 

(g) Ofsted also commented that escalation processes are currently not effective in 
demonstrating impact or positive change for children because of concerns raised 
by the IROs. 

 
The following points were raised during the discussion which followed: 
 
(h) a video could be produced by children who have chaired their own reviews in 

order to demystify the process; 
 

(i) individual children would have differing views on the use of the terms ‘placement’ 
or ‘home’ for where they live. Effective communication with the children is 

Page 4



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.01.23 

3 

important to establish these views; 
 

(j) it would be useful for the report to contain some underlying themes that come up 
in complaints and positive feedback received; 
 

(k) the complexity of some children in care is increasing due to exploitation and other 
issues, which can impact on the capacity of IROs; 
 

(l) it is positive that stability of children in care has improved, but it would be useful to 
have further information on the reasons why some do move out of placements, as 
this will help with the needs of individual children; 
 

(m)a lot of work is currently being undertaken  to support children to remain safely 
with their parents, or supporting their extended family to support if this is not 
possible. 

 
34  Feedback from development session and Corporate Parenting Board 

next steps 
 

Mary-Anne Cosgrove, Head of Children in Care, Care leavers and Regulated 
Services, delivered a presentation to the Board on feedback from a recent 
development session, and highlighted the following: 
 
(a) the development session was part of a wider package of support to develop the 

effectiveness of the Corporate Parenting Board. This package also includes peer 
interviews with key officers and councillors to understand the approach to 
corporate parenting, a Board observation, development of key areas and aspects 
for improvement, and a bespoke development programme for the Board; 
 

(b) the following strengths of the Board were identified: 
 

 there is a commitment across the council to corporate parenting, and an 
increased understanding of what this means by those not working in 
children’s services; 

 there is a strong culture of focusing on the child, and the Corporate Parenting 
Board is keen to examine ways to effectively engage with children in care and 
care leavers; 

 recent interventions have seen improvements to services for Children in Care 
and Care Leavers; 

 the Corporate Parenting Board meets six times per year and members are 
committed to attending and asking questions; 

 some key partner organisations are now attending the Corporate Parenting 
Board meetings routinely. 

 
(c) whilst there is a commitment to Children in Care and Care Leavers, there is no 

clear single vision or aspiration; 
 

(d) the Board operates in a similar way to a scrutiny committee, and whilst key 
members champion the needs of children in care, this leadership dynamic could 
be enhanced by changing the terms of reference; 
 

Page 5



Corporate Parenting Board - 16.01.23 

4 

(e) the Corporate Parenting Board meets in public which is unusual. This can stifle 
board discussions and deeper conversations; 
 

(f) the voice of Children in Care and Care Leavers should be embedded more into 
the work of the Board. Suggestions of doing this include members acting as Link 
Champions, take over days, and children attending meetings. 

 
The following points were raised during the discussion which followed: 
 
(g) examples from other local authorities should be used to establish new terms of 

reference which put the Children in Care and Care Leavers at the heart of the 
Board’s work; 
 

(h) the vision for the Board should be full of energy and commitment to the best 
opportunities and support; 
 

(i) the voices of as wide a range of Children in Care and Care Leavers should be 
captured, including those that do not live in Nottingham and those that find it 
difficult to engage. 

 
35  Date of the next meeting 

 
The date of the next meeting was noted.  
 

Page 6



Corporate Parenting Board
January 16 2023

Independent Reviewing Officer
Annual Report 2021/2022

P
age 5

M
inute Item

 33

P
age 7



Roles and 
Responsibilities

•Monitor the performance of the Local 
Authority and their function in relation to 
the child's case. 
•Participate in any review of the child's case. 
•Ensure that any ascertained wishes and 
feelings of the child are given due 
consideration by the appropriate authority. 
•Perform any other function, which is 
prescribed by the regulations. 

P
age 6

P
age 8



Children in Care Data 
2020/21

• The Children in Care population for 2020-21 
within Nottingham City Council was 724 (684). 
This shows an increase of 5.8% from the previous 
year. The East Midlands has also seen an increase 
in this population ranging from 4% -10%.

• Caseloads are within the upper limit specified in 
the IRO handbook, which denotes a caseload of 
50-70 per IRO as being manageable. At present 
IRO’s hold an average caseload of 65. This shows 
progress over the previous years.

P
age 7

P
age 9



Children in Care Data 
2020/21

• Stability of placement is an important factor for 
children in care and a key performance indicator.  
In Nottingham 72% (64%) of our children in care 
have remained in the same placement for at least 
2 years or more. 

• Reviews within timescale were at 92% (95%) 
which shows a slight decline against the previous 
year.

• Child participation in their review was 95% (92%). 
This shows a slight improvement against the 
previous year. This is strong performance given 
the obvious challenges presented by the 
pandemic over the last two years.

P
age 8

P
age 10



Inspection of Nottingham City local authority 
children’s services

• The review of children’s plans mostly takes place 
within statutory timescales, and minutes are 
sensitively written to children to help them 
understand the outcomes and plans. 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) do not 
consistently monitor children’s circumstances in 
between reviews. Escalation processes are 
currently not effective in demonstrating impact 
or positive change for children because of 
concerns raised by the IROs. 

P
age 9

P
age 11



Priorities for 2022/23

• Ensure every child has a mid-point review undertaken by the IRO 
and evidenced on child’s record.

• Rewrite the previous Dispute Resolution Policy and rebrand as 
Practice Resolution Protocol and this to be reportable on Liquid 
Logic.

• To ensure the IRO’s footprint is clearly evidenced in the child’s 
records. 

• Consultation documents to be reviewed, refreshed and then 
shared with children and carers 30 days before the next review.

• Performance Framework dashboard to be developed and 
implemented through an IRO specific analysis and insight report 
to monitor outcomes.

• Improved collaboration with all parts of Childrens Services 
ensuring the IRO offers high support and high challenge in 
meeting expectations for our children. 

P
age 10

P
age 12



QUESTIONSP
age 11

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 14



Corporate Parenting

Peer Support Programme
Module two – development session

Su Turner – LGA Associate

January 2023 www.local.gov.uk

P
age 13

M
inute Item

 34

P
age 15



www.local.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Peer Diagnostic

• This diagnostic is part of a wider package of support to 
develop the effectiveness of the Corporate Parenting Board.  

• The package includes:
– peer interviews with key officers and councillors to understand the 

approach to corporate parenting
– a Corporate Parenting Board observation 
– development of key areas and aspects for improvement
– a bespoke development programme for the corporate parenting 

board.
• Peer Team
– Councillor Anntoinette Bramble, Hackney Council
– Su Turner, CEO, Shaping Governance
– Supported by Helen Donelan-Bell, LGA

P
age 14

P
age 16



www.local.gov.uk

Our Observations
Strengths
• There is a commitment across the council to corporate 

parenting, and an increased understanding of what this 
means by those not working in children’s services;

• There is a strong culture of focusing on the child, and the 
Corporate Parenting Board is keen to examine ways to 
effectively engage with children in care and care leavers;

• Recent interventions have seen improvements to services for 
children in care and care leavers;

• The Corporate Parenting Board meets six times per year and 
members are committed to attending and asking questions;

• Some key partner organisations are now attending the 
Corporate Parenting Board meetings routinely.

P
age 15

P
age 17



www.local.gov.uk

Our Observations
Areas for development
• Whilst there is commitment to children in care and care leavers – there was 

no clear single vision or aspiration.
• The Corporate Parenting Board meets in public; which is quite unusual. This 

can stifle board discussions and deeper conversations.
• Improvements to services for children in care and care leavers had been made, 

but it felt that these had been undertaken in silos. The Corporate Parenting 
Board could act as the bridge to improve and connect services;

• The Corporate Parenting Board appears to operate as a scrutiny 
committee, and whilst key members champion the needs of children in 
care, this leadership dynamic could be enhanced.

• Membership of the Corporate Parenting Board is unclear, as to are 
partners roles

• Meetings are dominated by lengthy reports and from presentations from 
officers.

• Better ways to hear the voices of children in care and care leavers

P
age 16

P
age 18



www.local.gov.uk

Programme structure 

Module 1
Overview of Corporate 
Parenting
Roles, Responsibilities and 
framework for effective 
corporate parenting

Module 2
Taking it to the next level
1) Leadership, Partnership 
and Aspirations
2) Scrutiny 
3) Engagement – children 
and partners

P
age 17

P
age 19



Corporate Parenting

Recap from module one

P
age 18

P
age 20



www.local.gov.uk

What is a Corporate Parent?

“a shared responsibility with all officers and members of 
the local authority to act as effective and caring corporate 

parents for looked-after children, with key roles in 
improving their educational attainment, providing stable 

and high quality placements and proper planning for when 
they leave care”

DfE 2013, Director and Lead Member for Children’s Services – Roles and Responsibilities

P
age 19

P
age 21



www.local.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting Principles
The Children and Social Work Act 2017…explains this further with 7 
Corporate Parenting Principles
• To act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health 

and well- being, of those children and young people
• To encourage those children and young people to express their views, 

wishes and feelings
• To take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 

young people
• To help those children and young people gain access to, and make the 

best use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant 
partners

• To promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for 
those children and young people

• For those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their 
home lives, relationships and education or work; and

• To prepare those children and young people for adulthood and 
independent living.

P
age 20

P
age 22



www.local.gov.uk

Who is a Corporate Parent within the 
council?

• Specialist: Lead Members 
and Directors of Children’s 
Services

• Targeted: Corporate 
Parenting Boards and 
Scrutiny Committees have 
additional responsibilities

• Universal: Every councillor
and officer of the local 
authority

Specialist 
Responsibility

Targeted responsibility

Universal Responsibility

P
age 21

P
age 23



www.local.gov.uk

Targeted roles…

Cabinet and Executive Councillors
Executive councillors key decision makers for council and community

Corporate Parenting Board
Champion the corporate parenting role across the authority and partners

Scrutiny Councillors and Committees
Champion the corporate parenting role across the authority and partners

Management Team and Senior Officers
Sets the tone of how directorates view the importance of Corporate Parenting

Partners
Children Act 2004, Councils have a duty to promote ‘cooperation’ between 

‘relevant partners’, such as Police, the NHS and Education Providers

P
age 22

P
age 24



Corporate Parenting

Taking it to the next level!

P
age 23

P
age 25



• Leaders to take corporate parenting very seriously and be 
highly ambitious for children in care and care leavers.

• Senior leaders to have a clear and transformative vision of 
services to sustainably improve the lives of vulnerable 
children.

• Senior leaders to implement a clear and ambitious vision for 
all children in care & Care leavers.

• Children to be cared for, and cared about.

Ofsted Expectations

P
age 24

P
age 26



Ofsted found that where services were considered good or better, the 
Corporate Parenting Board:
• Demonstrated a strong cross-party commitment to children in 

care, by championing their rights, having high aspirations for their 
achievement, monitoring children’s progress and challenging 
outcomes;

• Clearly understood its role and the responsibilities of the council 
and partners towards children in care, and planned for and 
prioritised their needs, resulting in a greater focus on improving 
outcomes;
• Actively engaged with their young people, for example, through 

the children in care council, and have effective and regular links 
with senior management and councillors

Good Corporate Parents

P
age 25

P
age 27



www.local.gov.uk

Case Study One – Telford and Wrekin
“Corporate parenting is exceptionally strong. Children are cared for, 

and they are cared about... “

• Moved from RI to Outstanding in 2020 – confirmed in 2022
• Clear strategy and articulation of vision
• Strategy built as their promise to children – with the audience being the 

children based on a you said we will approach
• Each priority (7): you said, we will, how will we know we have made a 

difference
• CP Strategic Group involving partners
• CP Children’s Panel – co-ordinated by the children in care council and care 

leavers forum – run as a CPB meeting – with adults being called in
https://democracy.telford.gov.uk/documents/s14336/Appendix%20A%20for%20Co
rporate%20Parenting%20Strategy%202022-2025.pdf

P
age 26

P
age 28

https://democracy.telford.gov.uk/documents/s14336/Appendix%20A%20for%20Corporate%20Parenting%20Strategy%202022-2025.pdf


www.local.gov.uk

Case Study two – Leeds
“There are two vocal, inclusive and influential groups for children in care and care 
leavers. Young people in these groups have a strong sense of responsibility about 

what they do, with a clear agenda and workplan. Young people told inspectors 
that they feel valued, listened to and respected by senior leaders.”

• Continued to be Outstanding in 2022
• Clear vision and how they will achieve their ambition
• Asking would it be good enough for my child
• Series of promises to children that they monitor
• CPB is the strategic partnership to drive arrangements – elected members, key 

service leaders, and partners
• Children supported to be board members for three evening meetings
• Annual takeover day
• Operational delivery through CP operational Group
• Training provided to all – council staff, councillors and across the partnership

P
age 27

P
age 29



www.local.gov.uk

Common factors for excellence

Clear partnership vision that all are signed up to

Delivery Strategy built on promises to children – which is monitored

Strategic CPB – members, senior level officers and partners 

Meaningful ways to work with children in care and care leavers

Operation delivery – officers from across partnership

P
age 28

P
age 30



Corporate Parenting

Mini-Module: 
Rooting the voice of children in care and care leavers in 
your board discussions

P
age 29

P
age 31



www.local.gov.uk

Where the voice of children in Care and         
Care Leavers can come in

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/tomorrows-people-guide-ov-f48.pdf

P
age 30

P
age 32



www.local.gov.uk

Ways for the board to work with CYP
• Using the voice of children in care, care leavers and carers is valuable; 

but you don’t have to set up special channels - much exists:
– Indirect engagement and listening

• Seeking voice through existing mechanisms that the council has, including participation 
officers and the Children in Care Council

• Have your say Survey feedback

– Working with partners and specialists
• Your front line staff 
• CAMHs and CAFCASS  
• Schools

– Recruit young mentors or young researchers (scrutiny examples)
• Oldham, young people engaged their peers to talk about mental health
• Doncaster – participation champions
• Gloucestershire – care leavers co-design work

– Use technology and social media
– Informal opportunities such as celebration events

P
age 31

P
age 33



Child-centred corporate parenting

We have heard that outstanding approaches to being corporate parents 
include an active two-way relationship with the Children in Care Council

The Children in Care Council provides some children and care leavers with an 
opportunity to share their views on services they receive. However, the council is 
underdeveloped, with only nine children attending regularly. This limits the capacity for 
children and young people to influence service development and co-production in 
Nottingham city 
Ofsted July 2022

• Themed Meetings – focusing on key areas at each meeting
• Link Champions – councillors – meet with CYP on their theme
• CYP Take-over day; CYP supported to attend CPB meetings
• Dedicated CP Children’s Panel
• You said, we did approach

P
age 32

P
age 34



Child-centred corporate parenting

Discussion

• How do you currently work with the Children in care council
• How could you improve this?
• How do you know you are delivering your promises?
• How does the Corporate Parenting Board hear the views and 

wishes of CYP?
• How does the Corporate Parenting Board use this to plan its work 

strategically?

P
age 33

P
age 35



Mini-module: Scrutiny and Corporate parenting
Participant discussions and recommendations

Embedding Voice
• Map out existing channels across the partners to understand how 

voice of CiC and CL is captured;
• Understand how these can be used by the CPB – or where there are 

gaps that need filling;
• Utilise the ½ termly events as a mechanism for voice –themed 

meetings and assigning Link Champion Councillor to each theme.
• Build a normal cycle of Link Champion attending ½ termly events to 

gather voice and use in CPB meetings
• Participants were keen ensuring naturalistic and fun opportunities

Reports
• Develop child-friendly reports that are easier to understand. Possibly 

use Link Champion to see if what is contained in the reports actually 
happens / is correct.

P
age 34

P
age 36



Corporate Parenting

Mini-Module: 
Scrutiny ‘S & s’

P
age 35

P
age 37



www.local.gov.uk

Simple snapshot of governance

P
age 36

P
age 38



www.local.gov.uk

Corporate Parent Board - role
• Provides the strategic leadership that drives an ambitious and 

multi-agency approach to improving outcomes for CiC and CL.
• Champions the role of the Corporate Parent – to all councillors, 

officers and partners.
• Works as a board to overcome any barriers to improving 

outcomes for children in care and care leavers.
• Understands the needs of children in care and care leavers, and 

– Produces a strategy for the improvements needed;
– Develops a ‘pledge or promise’ detailing how they will care 

for and care about them.
– Monitors how well the strategy is being implemented and 

how well services perform
Principle role is leadership

P
age 37

P
age 39



www.local.gov.uk

Children’s overview and scrutiny - role

• Has a vital role in the wider governance system that holds the 
authority’s decision-makers to account.

• Influences policies and decisions made by the council and 
partners involved in delivering public services

• Gathers evidence and uses the insight on issues affecting 
local people and make recommendations based on this.

• Adds value and makes a positive contribution to the lives of 
children and local people. 

• Acts as a ‘critical friend’ in assuring the Council and their 
partners execute their duties effectively. 

Principle power is influence

P
age 38

P
age 40



www.local.gov.uk

Main differences

Leadership and overcoming 
barriers

Developing strategy with 
partners to Improve services 

Challenging and improving 
performance – small s

Ensuring services are efficient 
and effective for CiC and CL

Acting as parents for CiC & CL 
championing and supporting

Holding the Cabinet to account 

Policy development and review 

Challenging and improving 
performance – big S

Supporting the achievement of 
value for money 

Ensuring the council is child 
focused and doing its best for 

all children

Scrutiny Corporate Parent Board

A public meeting Not (usually) public 

Joint planning adds value

P
age 39

P
age 41



www.local.gov.uk

Corporate Parenting and Scrutiny

There are benefits to working more collaboratively with overview and scrutiny:

How do you currently work with scrutiny to:

• Plan your work programme?

• Ensure no gaps is oversight?

• Use the right tool (OSC or CPB) to get the right impact?

Briefly discuss:
How can you take your work with scrutiny to the next level?
Public vs non public meetings – which is best for you?

P
age 40

P
age 42



Mini-module: Scrutiny and Corporate parenting
Participant discussions and recommendations

Clarity of role:
• Clarify the different roles that Scrutiny and CPB play – emphasising

the leadership role of CPB;
• Change constitution to non-public meetings for the CPB;
• Routinely plan your work programme with scrutiny to understand

which tool – Scrutiny or CPB is best to receive information;
• Remember - CPB role is to overcome barriers and improve!

Terms of reference
• Create a terms of reference that details clearly the role that 

members of the CPB has and how this is different from scrutiny.
• Use this to ensure that all councillors and officers understand the

role of a corporate parent.

P
age 41

P
age 43



Corporate Parenting

Mini-Module: 
Leadership, partnership and Aspiration

P
age 42

P
age 44



www.local.gov.uk

The two sides of leadership

Leading and 
developing a Strong 
Corporate Parenting 
Ethos

Demonstrating 
strong leadership to 
children in care and 
care leavers

P
age 43

P
age 45



www.local.gov.uk

Leading and developing a Strong 
Corporate Parenting Ethos

The Corporate Parenting Board is the vehicle to provide leadership and brings 
together partners to:

• Provides the leadership that drives an ambitious and multi-agency approach 
to improving outcomes for children in care and care leavers.  

• Oversees completion of actions identified within the CPB strategy 

• Promotes the pledge / promises in a meaningful way

• Champions the role of the corporate parent - encouraging all councillors

Briefly discuss:
What is your shared vision for children in care and care leavers?
What are your promises and how do you monitor them?
How can you take your leadership and partnership to the next level?

P
age 44

P
age 46



Mini-module: Leadership, Partnership and Aspiration
Discussions and recommendations

Vision
• Use the words in the word cloud to co-create your vision alongside CYP

Partnership
• Review partnership membership of the CPB – ensure that you have the 

right people at the table – remember being a member of the CPB is a
leadership role needing influence

• Consider creating an operational delivery group to support improvement 
and work between meetings

Participants vision in words

P
age 45

P
age 47



www.local.gov.uk

LGA Training and resources

Courses 

Resources

Peer 
mentoring 

• Leadership Essentials 2 day courses for councillors providing learning 
and networking opportunities on specific themes, including Scrutiny and 
Children’s Services https://local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-
political-leadership/leadership-essentials

• E-Lerning – coming soon

• Crporate Parenting Resource Pack

• Your first ten days as a lead member for children's services 
Includes a glossary of key terms. 

• LG Inform: benchmarking and data reports generated for your area

• Must Know for Lead Members of Children’s Services 

• LGA Children and young people policy pages 

• Peer mentoring for CPB Chairs from an experienced children’s 
services lead member or scrutiny chair. 

P
age 46

P
age 48

https://local.gov.uk/our-support/highlighting-political-leadership/leadership-essentials
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/your-first-ten-days-lead-member-childrens-services
about:blank
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/must-knows-lead-member-ro-03d.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/children-and-young-people


                                       Corporate Parenting Board - 20 March 2023 
   

Title of paper: Children in Care Social Care complaints 

 
Corporate Director: Catherine Underwood – People 

 
Wards affected: All 

Report author and 
contact details: 
 

Patrick Skeete - Social Care Complaints Manager 
Patrick.skeete@nottinghamcity.gov.uk 
0115 876 5971 
 

Other colleagues who 
have provided input: 

Ian Hiller - Complaints and Mediation Officer 

Date of consultation with Portfolio Holder N/A 
 

Does this report contain any information that is exempt from publication? No 
 

 

Relevant Council Plan Key Outcome: 

Clean and Connected Communities 
Keeping Nottingham Working 
Carbon Neutral by 2028 
Safer Nottingham 
Child-Friendly Nottingham 
Healthy and Inclusive 
Keeping Nottingham Moving 
Improve the City Centre 
Better Housing 
Financial Stability 
Serving People Well 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Summary of issues (including benefits to citizens/service users):  
This report includes a summary of the statutory Social Care Complaints procedure, which ensures 
young people have a robust process to express their dissatisfaction. The report highlights 
complaints made specifically by Children in Care in accordance with the statutory Social Care 
Complaints procedure. This report also focuses on the nature of the complaints made and whether 
the complaints were addressed within the statutory timescales.  
 

 

Recommendation: 

1 That the board continues to support the effective complaints handling, and understand the 
required duties of corporate parents in relation to addressing the concerns of, young people in 
care. 
 

 
1. Reasons for recommendations 
 
1.1 Nottingham City has a legislative duty to ensure all young people have a robust 

complaints process to address any concerns that that they are responsible for. 
 

2. Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
2.1 The aim of the Social Care Complaints Team is to resolve service user dissatisfaction 

and learn from complaints in order to improve service delivery.  The complaints service 

Page 49

Agenda Item 4

mailto:Patrick.skeete@nottinghamcity.gov.uk


operates a statutory complaints procedure, which includes the production of an annual 
report on the operation of the complaints procedure.1 

 
2.2 Complaints which are made and resolved within 24 hours are not logged as complaints. 

This is in line with national guidance.    

2.3 The remit of the complaints team is to manage the statutory process. The team is 
required to check that a person who wishes to make a complaint on behalf of a child has 
sufficiency of interest in respect of making a complaint: it obtains consent   where this is 
required. In respect of children’s complaints, consideration may need to be given as to 
whether a child is Fraser competent; in other circumstances, consideration will need to be 
given to determine whether a complaint is being made in the interests of the young 
person, where she or he or the parent may lack the necessary capacity. Where a Power 
of Attorney is raised as a right to make a complaint on another person’s behalf, the 
complaints team must establish whether such a Power is registered or not 

 
2.4 It is only after these matters have been considered that the Social Care Complaints 

Team asks a Service Manager or Team Manager to provide a written response to a 
complaint, and to respond to the complaint within the timescales, as defined within the 
relevant statutory complaints process. At stage 2 of the procedure independent 
investigators are commissioned by the Complaints Team to investigate complaints and to 
provide reports to the Authority detailing their findings and recommendations. Where a 
complainant remains dissatisfied the Complaints Team arranges a stage 3 complaints 
review panel, comprised of three independent people, which is asked to review the 
Authority’s response to the complaint as well as the stage 2 findings.  

 
2.5 The Complaints Team provides advice to the operational teams on how to avoid 

unnecessary escalation of complaints to the Local Government Ombudsman. Further 
support is provided to the Department in managing complaints from the Local 
Government Ombudsman, along with training for front-line staff.   

 
2.6 The Complaints Team has been indispensable in identifying complaints that have the 

potential to be escalated to the Local Government Ombudsman; advice is offered to 
operational staff on how to limit the impact of such complaints, thereby reducing any 
reputational damage to the Authority.  

 
2.7 Where a complaint reaches the Ombudsman, the Complaints Team is highly skilled at 

risk assessing complaints in order to identify potential failings, so that they may be 
rectified and resolved, before the Ombudsman investigates the complaint, again this 
helps to avoid reputational damage. 

 
2.8  The expectation from Ofsted is that the Local Authority does not operate a one-

dimensional view of quality & practice. Complaints provide a particular perspective on 
performance.  

Children’s Statutory Social Care Complaints Procedure. 

2.9 Stage 1 – the department is asked to provide a written response within 10 working days, 
this may be extended to 20 workings days 

 
2.10 Stage 2 – the complainant, usually where s/he remains dissatisfied following a response 

at stage 1, may request an investigation of their complaint; this is usually undertaken by 
an Independent Investigator, overseen by an Independent Person, both commissioned 

                                            
1 The Children Act 1989 Representations Procedure Regulations 2006 

Page 50



by the Complaints Team. Records are scrutinised and staff are interviewed by the 
investigator, after which the stage 2 outcome is provided in the form of a detailed 
investigation report, which should be available within 25 working days, but this may be 
extended to 65 working days 

 
2.11 Stage 3 – if the complainant remains dissatisfied after receiving the investigator’s findings 

and any recommendations, s/he may request that an independent panel (comprised of 3 
independent people) review the complaint and investigation. The complainant and any 
representative, and a representative from the department, along with the investigator and 
independent person are invited to the panel too 

 
2.12 The relevant director then writes to the complainant to explain if the department accepts 

the findings and recommendations of the Stage 3 Panel; the director also explains what 
action plan has been agreed to be put in place, so as to complete any recommendations.  

 
2.13   Complaints Received from Children in Care 01/09/2021 – 12/12/2022  

2.13.1 Complaints frequently have more than one issue, as such, some parts may be upheld 
and some not upheld. Therefore, the outcome of the overall complaint may be mostly 
upheld or mostly not upheld; but in situations where none of the complaints are upheld 
then the overall complaint is “Not upheld” or conversely, it is “Upheld” where the 
complaints are all upheld. 

2.13.2 Out of jurisdiction complaints (OOJ) include those where the same complaint has been 
made more than once. Under the complaints regulations we cannot investigate the 
same matter twice. OOJ complaints may also include complaints about non-social care 
services or complaints received where the necessary consent is not forthcoming. 

2.13.3 There are times where there is a ‘No Finding’ outcome. This is usually where there is no 
evidence to support a view or where we are unable to come to a definitive decision.  

Complaint  Nature of complaint 
Days to 

resolve 
Outcome 

1   
Quantity, frequency, change or 

cost of a service 
22 Mostly upheld 

2   
Concern about the quality or 

appropriateness of the service 
20 Mostly upheld 

3 Unwelcome or disputed decision 21 Mostly not upheld 

4   Unwelcome or disputed decision 18 Upheld 

5   Attitude or behaviour of staff 2 Not pursued  

6   Attitude or behaviour of staff 30 Not upheld 

7   Attitude or behaviour of staff 19 Not upheld 

8   Attitude or behaviour of staff 19 Not upheld 

9   Delay in Decision Making 29 Upheld 

10   Attitude or behaviour of staff 5 Not upheld 

11   Attitude or behaviour of staff 1 Not upheld 

Page 51



12   Attitude or behaviour of staff 33 No finding 

13   Unwelcome or disputed decision 23 Open 

14   Attitude or behaviour of staff 9 Open  

15   
Concern about the quality or 

appropriateness of the service 8 
Open  

 

2.14 Main Points: 

a) The previous reporting period was for 12 months from 01/09/2020 to 31/08/2021. This 
current reporting period is for 16 months. Despite the longer period, the number of 
complaints has decreased from 16 to 15. 
 

b) Of the 15 complaints received, all of the 12 completed complaints were resolved at 
stage 1 of the complaints procedure, although 3 are still under investigation at the time 
this report was written.  

 

c) Previously all the complaints were concluded within the statutory timescale of 20 
working days: however, 6 complaints in the current reporting period, including 1 that is 
still open, will have been completed outside of the timescale.  

 

d) No strong themes were identified during this reporting period, as no two complaints 
were the same. Although, “not feeling listened to” and “not feeling supported” were 
commonly raised concerns; however, when investigated, it was found that young people 
often felt like this in circumstances where staff did not agree with the young person’s 
view. 
 

2.15 Individual complaint synopsis 

 Complaint 1 staff at a private residential home raised a complaint, with the young 
person’s consent, about the lack of visits and communication from the young person’s 
social worker: the young person hadn’t seen a social worker for 5 months; and the 
social worker had not turned up at meetings. The complaint was investigated by the 
Service Manager and mostly upheld because visits had not been undertaken due to 
staff absences. The written response included an apology for the failings. The young 
person was happy with the outcome and the complaint did not progress to the next 
stage.  

The young person is currently living independently in a one-bedroom flat and working.   

 Complaint 2 was from a young person in a private residential unit who complained 
“about the local authority not addressing or responding to my request for financial 
support to gain legal advice...” The complaint was responded to in writing by the Service 
Manager who apologised for the delay in replying to the request. The social worker and 
team manager then kept the young person and their advocate updated by phone. The 
young person accepted this and did not pursue the complaint further. Subsequently, the 
young person was supported to access legal aid. 

Complaint 3 a young person did not want to be moved from the private care facility 
where they were residing to be placed back with their parents. They felt they would be 
at emotional harm if this were to happen. The plan for the young person had been for 

Page 52



them to be rehabilitated back to parental care; however, the young person was clearly 
stating their desire to remain in local authority care until independence.  

The response explained the social worker will complete an assessment, and if he is of 
the same view as the young person, then he will recommend a change in the plan so 
that they will remain in local authority care until they reach independence.  

The young person subsequently moved into a semi-independent placement. It was 
agreed by the professionals involved that it was not in their best interest to return home 
to the care of their parents.   

 Complaint 4 a young person, assisted by an advocate, living in a residential home 
outside of Nottingham complained about the decision that they should return to live 
independently in Nottingham. Similar to what was described in complaint 3, this young 
person felt that their views were not being listened to.  

The service manager investigated the complaint and responded: “… the wishes and 
feelings of the children in our care is paramount and I acknowledge that this is not your 
desired outcome… It has now been agreed that you should remain at your current 
placement as this is in your best interests.” 

The young person is now settled. 

 Complaint 5 was from a young person with a disability who lives in a private residential 
home. They complained about staff at the home. The Whole Life Disability team service 
manager asked the social worker to follow this up with the carers at the home, and so 
the young person was happy with this and did not pursue it as a complaint. However, 
they then made further complaints, see complaints 10 and 11. 

 Complaint 6 was from a young person living with their baby in a mother and baby 
foster placement. They complained that the social worker had imposed unfair 
restrictions on them. 

The fieldwork service manager investigated and responded to the complaint by 
explaining these restrictions were in place as a safeguarding measure to ensure that 
both the young person and their child were kept safe, and so that the social worker 
could update the Court as to the progress made in the Mother and Baby placement.  

 Subsequently the child was removed from their care and remains in the care of foster 
carers.    

 Complaints 7 and 8 were from two young siblings who made their own written 
complaints, assisted by staff in the private residential home where they were living. 
They complained that their social worker was rude and did not listen to them.  

The children in care team service manager investigated and responded to their 
complaints separately.   

Both siblings continue to reside in their placements, but both are unhappy. They have a 
new social worker. Neither siblings wish to have contact with their birth family. They 
have been offered support from CAMHS. 

 Complaint 9 a complaint was made by a young person supported by an advocate. The 
young person complained that the placement was due to end soon and the young 
person had no idea where they might be living, which was making them feel 
increasingly anxious.  

Page 53



The children in care team service manager investigated and apologised to the young 
person for the confusion and delay. The response to the advocate explained that a 
request has been made for a semi-independent placement in line with the young 
person’s most recent wishes.   

The young person then moved to semi-independent accommodation with support. The 
move has been positive. The plan is to support and prepare the young person for 
independent living 

 Complaint 10 and 11 were from the same young person referred to in complaint 5. In 
two separate complaints the young person complained that different staff in the home 
had been rude.    

The Whole Life Disability team investigated the allegations. They met with the young 
person but found the allegations were not substantiated.   

The young person continues to remain in the residential home and has regular contact 
with both their social worker and family.  

 Complaint 12 a young person complained about the attitude and lack of 
communication from their social worker. The service manager and team manager from 
the children in care team visited to discuss the concerns. The complaint was resolved, 
and a new social worker was allocated. 

 Complaint 13 a young person complained that they did not want to leave the 
placement to move to semi-independent living. The service manager for children in care 
met with the young person and will provide a written response. This complaint is still 
open. 

 Complaint 14 an advocate has helped this young person aged under 13 to complain 
about the social worker being rude. This complaint is with the fieldwork service manager 
and currently being investigated.  
 

 Complaint 15 is from a young person who was in the process of leaving care. It relates 
to savings accumulated whilst in foster placements. This complaint is with the relevant 
service manager for investigation.     

 
3 Other options considered in making recommendations 

 
3.1 None. 

 
4 Consideration of Risk 

 

4.1 None. 
 
5 Background (including outcomes of consultation) 
 
5.1 This is contained within the body of the report. 

 
6 Finance colleague comments (including implications and value for money) 
 
6.1 None. 

 
7. Legal colleague comments 

 
7.1 The Children Act 1989 (S24D & 26[3] & The Local Authority Social Services and National 

Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009 require each Local Authority to 

Page 54



establish formal procedures for considering complaints in respect of services to children. 
Government Regulations were introduced in 2006 and the Secretary of State issued 
statutory guidance under the Local Government Social Services Act 1970. Failure to 
adhere to timescales could mean maladministration payments being made to the 
complainant 

 
7.2 If the above legislation is not adhered to the Local Authority will fail to fulfil its statutory 

duty and this will impact on service delivery to complainants resulting in the involvement 
of the Local Government Ombudsman with a potential outcome of the Department being 
requested to make maladministration payments if the LGO feels there has been undue 
delay in progressing the complaint, this in turn may cause reputational risk to the 
Department.  
 

8. Other relevant comments 
 

8.1 None. 
 

9. Crime and Disorder Implications (If Applicable) 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
10. Social value considerations (If Applicable) 
 
10.1 Not applicable. 
 
11. Regard to the NHS Constitution (If Applicable) 
 
11.1 No applicable. 
 
12. Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
12.1 This is not required as the report is an update for Board Members. 

 
13. Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) 
 
13.1 This is not required as the report is an update for Board Members. 
 
14. Carbon Impact Assessment (CIA) 
 
14.1 This is not required as the report is an update for Board Members. 

 
15. List of background papers relied upon in writing this report (not including 

published documents or confidential or exempt information) 
 

15.1  None. 
 

16. Published documents referred to in this report 
 
16.1 The Children Act 1989 (S24D & 26[3] & The Local Authority Social Services 

Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 1991National Health Service 
Complaints (England) Regulations 2006 

 
16.2 Getting the Best from Complaints National Guidance. 
 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Dec-22 67.9% Dec-22 210 Dec-22 9.0% Dec-22 320

Sep-22 70.3% Sep-22 242 Sep-22 8.0% Sep-22 314

Q3 22/23 73.1% Q3 22/23 0 Dec-22 78.7% Dec-22 75.4%

Q2 22/23 72.6% Q2 22/23 0 Sep-22 74.3% Sep-22 82.2%

Q3 22/23 11.4% Q3 22/23 1 Dec-22 26.0% Dec-22 76.1%

Q2 22/23 8.1% Q2 22/23 11 Sep-22 44.0% Sep-22 86.0%

Dec-22 86.2% Q3 22/23 93.3%

Sep-22 82.5% Q2 22/23 96.2%

Q3 22/23 62.9%

Q2 22/23 70.4%

Q3 22/23 66

Q2 22/23 51
Q3 22/23 88.3%
Q2 22/23 87.4%

Dec-22 78.0%
Sep-22 83.0%

Dec-22 82.0% Q3 22/23 2 Q3 22/23 63

Sep-22 87.0% Q2 22/23 7 Q2 22/23 51

Q3 22/23 269 Aut 22 82.0% Q3 22/23 12

Q2 22/23 492 Sum 22 82.0% Q2 22/23 2

Q3 22/23 106 Aut 22 87.0%

Q2 22/23 236 Sum 22 88.0%
-1.0

p IMP. 500.0%

A2* ePEP QUALITY (GOOD)

q IMP. -55.1% q DEC. ppts

q IMP. -45.3% tu NO CHANGE ppts 0.0

p IMP. 23.5%
EDUCATION PLANS

A10* ePEPS COMPLETED SGOs

q DEC. ppts -5.0 q DEC. -71.4%

CARE PLAN ADOPTIONS UP TO DATE VISITS DISCHARGES FROM CARE

q DEC. ppts -5.0
UP TO DATE PLAN NO. ADOPTED NO. DISCHARGES

p DEC. 29.4%
REVIEWS IN TIME

p IMP. ppts. 0.9

EET

q DEC. ppts -7.5

ADMISSIONS REVIEWS & VISITS

UP TO DATE DENTAL SUITABLE ACCOMMODATION

p IMP. ppts. 3.7 q DEC. ppts -2.9

q DEC. ppts -18.0 q DEC. ppts -9.9

3 MOVES (LAST 12 MTHS) DE-REGISTERED RHA in TIMESCALE LCS CL PATHWAY PLAN AUTH. (LAST 6 MTHS)

p DEC. ppts. 3.3 q IMP. -90.9%

p IMP. ppts. 4.4 q DEC. ppts -6.8

STABILITY (LAST 2 YRS) APPROVED UP TO DATE HA CIC PATHWAY PLAN AUTH. (LAST 6 MTHS)

p IMP. ppts. 0.5 tu NO CHANGE 0.0%

p IMP. ppts. 1.0 p IMP. 1.9%q DEC. ppts -2.4 q DEC. -13.2%

Performance on a Page
As of 31 December 2022 (Q3 22/23)

PLACEMENTS IN-HOUSE FOSTERING HEALTH CARE LEAVERS

FAMILY BASED NO. FOSTER CARERS IHA IN TIMESCALE NO. CARE LEAVERS

RED ARROWS:  DECLINING PERFORMANCE
GREEN ARROWS:  IMPROVING PERFORMANCE
AMBER ARROWS:  NO CHANGE

* A10 - Ave time (in days) between a child entering care and moving in with its adoptive family adjusted for foster carer adoptions
* A2 - Ave time (in days) between a local authority receiving court authority to place a child and the local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive family

P
age 57

A
genda Item

 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	33 Independent Review Service - Annual Report
	Corporate Parenting Board�January 16 2023��Independent Reviewing Officer�Annual Report 2021/2022��
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7

	34 Feedback from development session and Corporate Parenting Board next steps

	4 Children in Care Social Care complaints
	5 Quarter 3 2022-23 (Oct-Dec) performance

